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"High the vanes of Shrewsbury gleam

Islanded in Severn stream".
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PREFACE.

This thesis began as an attempt to relate the
topography and domestic architecture of an English town
to its general history, to see, that is, how far the
present street plan and surviving buildings reflected
the various stages in growth from its origins to the time
when, with the coming of the railway, distant influences
suddenly became more powerful than the historic regional
environment. Shrewsbury was chosen because it has both a
wealth of old houses and extensive corporation records
which it was hoped would throw light on the buildings, in
particular on their dating.

The examination of records of all kinds proceeded
intermittently for about three years, paralleled by an
exterior survey of most of the town's buildings. The
intent®on was to date the bulk of the architecture in this
way and then to assemble a few plans representative of the
various periods. The discovery behind the Nag's Head
public house of a ruinous medieval hall - a type of house
not hitherto known to exist in the town - the revelation of
the true character of the 0ld Mint' , and the impossibility
of finding elsewhere published plans of any town house
analogous to those found in Shrewsbury gradually induced

a change of purpose.



Henceforth plans and structure became the main
consideration since so little was known about them, and to
this end a much smaller number of houses had to be examined
in greater detail. The extra work thus involved necessitated
a further limitation in date which was clearly defined by
the nature of the buildings; the change from timber-framing
to brick is the biggest break in the continuity of
architectural tradition in Shrewsbury.

The close study of structure revealed in most cases
a complexity which, it was felt, needed presentation in
detail. An attempt has been made to convey the information
about key buildings in such a way that the reader will
have some opportunity of checking the conclusions
independently. Detailed description backed up by copious
illustration is the method employed. This situation, where
an independent check can be made, is almost impossible to
achieve without writing a series of short monographs on
individual houses, and indeed it is highly desirable that
such a series should be presented in archaeological
periodicals so that by publication and discussion the main
types of plan and structure may be established more securely
than any other means allow.

The work upon which the following study is based was
nearly all done during the past three years. Some six weeks

at most were available each year for all the fieldwork, so
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any inadequacies in treatment should be considered with
that in mind. One further severe limitation involved in
doing this kind of work alone is the impossibility of
making measured drawings. Those here presented have
mostly been based on whatever plans happened already to be
available, supplemented by my own rough sketch plans. In
o few cases friends assisted me to take enough measurements
to ensure a higher degree of accuracy.

The fact that any survey of this kind is largely
dependent on the goodwill and co-operation of other people
accounts for a lengthy list of acknowledgments. I thank
Professor G.F. Webb, C.B.E., F.S.A., Secretary to the Royal
Commission on Historical Monuments (England), for granting
the necessary research leave to enable the thesis to be
completed; Mr., S.R.H. Loxton, O.B.E., Town Clerk of
Shrewsbury, for permission to examine the Borough Records
preserved in the Guildhall, sometimes on occasions when it
must have been inconvenient to have visitors at all;

Mr., P.R. Dinnis, A.M.I.C.E., formerly Borough Surveyor,

for help of many kinds, including gaining access to certain
buildings for me, the unrestricted use of the departmental
office for consulting plans and drawings, and especially
for permitting a member of his staff, Mr. W.C. Simpson, to

take photographs for me; his successor Mr. - Morris, for

similar help; and Mr. J.L. Hobbs, F.R.Hist.S., Borough
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Librarian, and his Deputy Miss E. Sladdin, for their
help in making topographical material known to me and
readily available.

His Grace the Duke of Sutherland kindly gave
permission to examine the Lilleshall Cartulary at Trentham,
and hisagent Mr. R.F. Allum, gave me every facility there.

I thank also the tenants, too numerous to hame
individually, of the shops and houses described in the
text for their kindness in permitting me to enter and
examine their premises.

Several people read and commented on drafts of one
or more of the first four chapters. Mr. Philip Styles,
M.A., F.S.A., read them all; Professor H.A. Cronne and
Dr, F.T. Wainwright, F.S.A. read Chapter I; and Mr. J.L.
Hobbs made many helpful comments on Chapter II,.

My father Mr. Thomas Smith undertook to complete
the index; without the time and labour he devoted to the
task, it could not have been provided at all. He also read
the whole text in manuscript and frequently improved it.

Nor are thanks any the less due to those whose
assistance, though less direct, was essential to the
completion of the work. Mr and Mrs., N. Coxon, wardens of
Shrewsbury Youth Hostel, and Miss Sladdin and Miss Jancey

at Riggs Hall, offered me hospitality on many occasions.
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Lastly, my father and mother have in many minor ways
helped and encouraged me during the whole time this thesis

has been in preparation.
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CHAPTz=R I.

Before the Norman Conguest.

The town of Shrewsbury lies within a loop of the
River Severn by which it is protected on all sides save
the north; "Super Sabrinam in vertice collis posita"

1 succintly puts it. BEven on the north side

as Higden
within historic times a meander now virtually dry made

of the northern approach a long, narrow, and easily
defensible neck of land bounded each side by water.2

From the earliest times there seem to have been only two
fords, situated roughly where the English and Welsh bridges
now stand, upon which routes from sast, west and south
converged. Within the loop of the river the land rises
abruptly on the east and south sides from about 160 ft above
O.D. at the bank to the 200 ft contour, with a more gradual
rise on the west, yet here too the line of approach now
represented by Mardol had the natural defence of a2 marsh

on the north side, and on the south low-lying land subject
to flood. Dominating the high ground are two small hills
upon one of which formerly stood the High Cross with the
churches of St. Mary and St.Alkmund and upon the other the

1, Higden, Polychronicon, RS, 60.
2. R.E. James, The d Bed of the River Severn at Shrewsbury,
TSAS, LIII (1949-50), 242-50.




old church of St.Chad. In the depression between them was
a peat bog 1 (fig.l).

The limited agricultural possibilities of the site
made it unfavourable to prehistoric settlement, and the few
finds of Roman date do not amount to evidence of permanent
occupation. One legacy remained from these earlier
periods to the Dark Age settlers, a system of communications
(fig.2). Sir Cyril Fox, discussing the distribution of
flat and hammer-flanged axes of the early Bronze Age, says
that from "north-west Wales traffic crossed the Berwyns to
the Oswestry region and descended to the Severn in the
neighbourhood of lMontford Bridge“.2 The importance of the
Shrewsbury district as a river crossing is further shown
by the distribution of picrite axe-hammers manufactured at
Cwm Mawr, south of Corndon Hill in Montgomeryshire. One such
axe . hammer, of Bronze age date, is the only prehistoric

3

object recorded from Shrewsbury. There is no evidence
to show whether the north Wales route continued to be used
in the Early Iron Age, but certainly by Roman times it
seems to have fallen out of use, superseded by a more

complex pattern of communications likewise focussed on the

l. Discovered during building excavations in 1783 (0O & B
I, 31 n.4); 1834 (Sir Alexander Gibb, Life of Telford,
2él);‘1881 (Tsas, IX (1886), 394); for its rediscovery
in 1927 see p. 24 below.

2., Sir Cyril Pox, Personality of Britain, 4th ed.,70
and pl. VI,

3. Miss Lily F.Chitty, F.S.A., kindly informed me of the
Shrewsbury.axe-hammer; it has since been published in
Proc. Frehist, Soc., XVII (1951), 160, 164 (figl), q.v.

also_for the Owm Nawr factory; map, 123i probabl
in 1881, during the excavatigﬂs ig’Higﬁ.S%ree%. y found
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Severn crossings at much the same place. Another factor
which dictated this new pattern was the physical structure
of the valleys, up which in historic times men have always
penetrated the eastern fringe of the Cambrian mountains.
Thus from Wroxeter, only five miles south of Shrewsbury,
a road ran along the Vale of Powys following the Severn, the
main line of penetration, to Caersws, thence probably via
the Garno and Dovey valleys to Pennal. An easier route
led through the South Shropshire hills to Leintwardine and
Kenchester, with offshoots thence to Brecon and Abergavenny.
Brecon and places in the Wye Valley had good southward
communications, but their northward aspect was potentially
important when, as in the Middle Ages, political or economic
factors made that outlet preferable. Wroxeter therefore
was a focal point for the whole of central Wales, whence
ran another route, the most important single element of
the system for succeeding ages, which went through the
Midlands to London. Thus already in Roman times the main
lines of a road system were laid down which future ages
were compelled by geographical conditions to follow.l
One other means of communication, the Severn itself,
is obviously of great potential importance, yet evidence

for its use is slight. Sir Cyril Fox has demonstrated

1. PFa the Roman roads see 0.3. Map of Roman Britain
(2nd ed) and R.E.M. Wheeler, Roman and Native in vales,
Trans.Soc. of Cymmrodorion, (1920-21), map opp.4l.




the use of the river in prehistoric times as a link
between the highland cultures of north Wales and the
lowland cultures of Wessex, saying that "its middle and
lower reaches may have carried some of the Irish and
north Wales trade to South Britain": T this is perhaps
borne out by the distribution of picrite axes mentioned
above (footnote 3, page 2). There seems to be no
evidence for the use of the river in Roman times, nor
indeed had it any obvious function to perform, since it
linked no important centres of agricultural or industrial
production with any large town or port.

From this discussion one fact emerges clearly,
that whatever type of culture might be dominant in the
region, the immediate neighbourhood of Shrewsbury would
be important in its lines of communication; the prehistoric
pastoral and agricultural communities of the highland zone

and the urban and (by comparison) industrial Roman

civilization alike found the Severn crossing vital.

Owen and Blakeway conjectured that the history of

Shrewsbury began with the migration of the inhabitants

of Wroxeter to a site more readily defensible by people

lacking Roman resources and organisation. 2 Some negative

l. Fox, op.cit., 72, 73n.
2. History of Shrewsburyy, 7.
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evidence is now available which strengthens this view.
Professor W.J. Varley in a study of hill forts of the VWelsh

1 shows that at least three Marcher forts were

Marches
reoccupied after the withdrawal of Roman government, but
of these the Wrekin, which had been the prehistorie
fortress~capital of the Cornovii before they were re-
settled in Wroxeter, was not one. 1In the absence of
Roman order life reverted in some ways to prehistoric
Iron Age conditions, where tactical considerations of
defence outweighed strategic factors. So to whatever
refuge the townsmen of Wroxeter moved under this compulsion,
it was not to the Wrekin, and they may well have chosen
the river-girt peninsula which was aptly named in Welsh
"the end of the swamp".2

The earliest record of settlement on the site of
Shrewsbury, then known as Pengwern, is in the poems of
Llywarch the Aged.3 Cynddylan, king of Powys, probably
had a palace and town here in the second quarter of the

Tth century, the destruction of which, lamented by the

poet, must have taken place some time after 641, when

l. Arch, J., CV (1950), 41-66.

2. This 1Is the meaning given to Pengwern by Ekwall in
Oxford Dict., Engl. Place-Names, s.v. Shrewsbury.

3. Kenneth Jackson, The poems of Llywarch the Aged,

Antiquity, IX (1935), 323-7, summarising Sir Tfor
W'IIiamsts Canu Llywarch Hen.
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Cynddylan was an ally of Penda at the battle of
Maserfeld.

S0 much can be said with certainty about
Pengwern because it is attested by modern scholarship
after critical examination of some of those Welsh sources
which, for want of proper editing, have frequently to
be disregarded by historians. Two such sources, Lives
of Welsh Saints, have a bearing on the history of Pengwern,
but the information drawn from them cannot at present be
considered reliable. Saint Tyssilio, a son of Brochwel
Ysgythrog, founded "the church of Pengwern, chiefest in
the land";l presumably "chiefest in the land" refers to
Pengwern's position as capital of Powys rather than to the
importance of the church, since Meifod was the premier
church of the kingdom.2

The second source is the Life of Saint Melangell,
latinised as lMonacella. Though the Latin manuscript
referring to Pengwern is dated as late ags 1640 and is a
copy of a manuscript itself no older than the sixteenth
century, it is here utilised because the Saint's existence

is corroborated by other Lives and because Sir John Lloyd

thought it worth quoting.3 The Historia Monacellae states

l. S.Baring-Gould and John Fisher, Lives of the British
Saints, IV, 303, quoting Red Book of Hergesft.

2. Tbid. | _ -

3. Ivid., ITI, 463-6; Historia lionacellae, Arch.Camb., III
(18485, 139-42, cited by Dir John Lloyd, History of .ales,
I, 195-6.
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that the palace of Brochwel Ysgythrog, prince of Powys,
was on the site where o0ld St.Chad's church now stands,
but makes no mention of any Celtic Christian foundation.
Now if a Celtic church ever existed at Bengwern it is
likely to have been built near the royal palace, and it
is virtually certain that the Saxon conquerors would build
their church on any existing Christian site rather than
abandon consecrated ground. There is therefore nothing
inherently improbable or contradictory in these statements,
so that despite the need for textual criticism of the two
sources, this much of the information they contain may be
true,

Though Llywarch says little about Cynddylan's
palace or town his reference to the ruined hall may perhaps
indicate an aisled timber structure of the type described

1 while the town was doubtless a cluster

in the Welsh Laws,
of hovels around it.

One general point 1is noteworthy about Cynddylan's
highland zone kingdom of Powys; it had its capital just
inside the lowland zone, thus providing the earliest

historical instance of the strong connection so evident

in later times between central Wales and Shrewsbury.

1. Dr. Iorwerth Peate stresses the importance of timber
in Welsh building; The \Velsh House, 112 - 20, 150 -3,
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A reference to Cynddylan's ‘white town in the
bosom of the wood", Tren, the site and character of
which are alike unknown, suggests there was another
settlement of some importance in the neighbourhood,
equated by J.R. Green with Wroxeter. © Certainly if the
poet's use of the word white implies a contrast between
structures of wood or cob © and a more substantial stone-
built settlement, Wroxeter seems a likely identification.
On the other hand it is not obvious why Wroxeter, which
was Viroconium Cornoviorum to the Ravenna Cosmographer 3
and was known to the Welsh in the Dark Ages as Caer

4 should have taken the name of the insignificant

Guiricon,
stream of Tren; with the Severn nearby, even poetic
licence will hardly explain this.

No locality near Shrewsbury enables us to visualise
a town in the bosom of the wood"; only a reconstruction
of ancient forests could limit speculation, but it may
_be noted in passing that Wroxeter in its heyday must have

required extensive agricultural land to support its numerous

inhabitants. Even in its decayed state at the end of the

1. J.R. Green, History of the English People, I, 27.
2, Peate, op.cit., 163-9.
3. I.A. Richmond and 0.G.S. Crawford, The British Section
of the Ravenna Cosmography, Archaeologia, XCIIIL (1949), 8.
4. U0.3. Map of Britain in the Dark Ages, South Sheet.
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fourth century and later it is hard to imagine that rough
woodland encroached so far on the deserted fields as to
merit the description.

Moreover Professor Donald Atkinson's excavations
between 1923 and 1925 showed that in the forum at least
occupation ended late in the fourth century. The "White
town" might find an earlier analogy in Tre'ir Ceiri, 1
withrruins instead of a quarry as the source of material,
which would explain the adjective. But it is unsafe to
rely on Green's interpretation of white as indicating a
stone-built town; Dr. Iorwerth Peate has shown that the
whitewashing of buildings is a practice of ancient origin
once widespread in Wales, and carried on irrespective of
building materials.2 Nothing more is known about this
settlement, and since a site anywhere on the Tren or Tern
must have been less defensible and less of a natural route

focus than Shrewsbury, it may be presumed this obscure

place did not long survive the Mercian Conquest.

With the destruction of the Welsh capital of
Powys in the second half of the seventh century Mercian

control was securely established, and for more than a

1. R.E.M. Wheeler, op.cit., with other examples.
2. Peate, op.cit., 29.
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century afterwards nothing certain is known about
Shrewsbury. During this blank in the historical

and archaeological record the name of the place must

have received its English form. From the purely topo-
graphical name Pengwern it became Scrobbsbyrig, "Scrobb's
burg",l and the defences thus implied, however elemeﬁtary,
forecast a military and strategic importance which the
site retained for many centuries.

If the tradition about St.Tyssilio mentioned
previously (p.6) is sound, St.Chad's may have been the
earliest of Shrewsbury's four pre-Norman churches, and
it is tempting to see in its dedication a hint of an
origin while the memory of the late T7th ocentury Bishop
of Lichfield was still fresh.

I consider a seventh century date probable despite
Dr, Wilhelm Levison's demonstration of the overwhelmingly
Roman character of dedicatiomsat that period.2 Although
the important Mercian ecclesiastical centres of Lichfield,
Ripon, Bredon, and Worcester all support his argument,
he qualified it by leaving aside the Celtic districts of
3

the west and south-west with their particular problems.

l. Ekwall, loc. cit.
2. W.Levison, England and the Continent in the 8th Century,
34.

3. ibid., 259 ff.; and loc.cit.
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The qualification is pertinent because Chad himself,
although not connected with the Celtic Church, was a
disciple of St..Aidan, and imbued by his whole upbringing
with the practices and traditions of the not too dissimilar
Columban Church. In the absence of any detailed study'
of Mercian dedications to prove the contrafy, it seems
that Levison's conclusions may need to be qualified when
applied to the eighth-century diocese of Lichfield; that
some at least of the Chad dedications may have followed a
Columban practice in commemorating the Saint within his
lifetime or very soon after.l
Although no Saxon structuralremains have yet been
discovered on the site of the Norman church of St.Chad
there are two scraps of archaeological evidence which bear
on its early history. When the l2th-century crypt was
excavated in 1889-90 a bronze pin was discovered which
the excavator described as Roman. Since then its exact
fellow has turned up in the Saxon monastery at Whitby,
and it must now be assigned to the 8th or the first half
of the 9th century.2 The pin had probably been used to

l. J.A. Duke, The Columban Church, 158-162.

2. I am indebted to Mr.G.C. Dunning, F.S.A., for drawing
my attention to the pin and its correct dating. For
the excavations( TSAS, 2s II (1890), 359-371;

Antiguary, XXI (1890),93, 184. PFor the Whitby pin,
Archaeologia, LXXXIX (1943), 64 and fig.l5.
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fasten a shroud; when the Norman church was built, or
when later graves were dug, bones from disturbed Saxon
burials were placed in the crypt, some still in their
shrouds. .At a later date, perhaps when the tower collapsed,
the crypt was cleared but the pin lay unnoticed on the
floor, to be found by the archaeologist. During the same
excavations two cist-type stone coffins were found, their
sides and 1ids built of several stones, but without any
stone bottom. A layer of charcoal found under the skeletons
directly on'the soil indicates that the bodies were placed
in wooden coffins around which the cists had been buiit.
Coffins of the same general type were found at Whitby,
but as they certainly continued to be used at a much later
period 1 the evidence is inconclusive for dating purposes.
Henry Pidgeon's statement that fragments of Saxon sculpture
were discovered in the walls after the fall of the tower
in 1788 2 cannot be relied on, as writers of that period
often use the term Saxon for what is really Norman work.
0ld St.Chad's occupies one of the two hilltops
commanding Shrewsbury, St. Mary's the other. ;ts very

gsituation speaks for the antiquity of St.ilary's, which seems

1. As at Chertsey Abbey, founded (?) 960; Surrey Arch,
Coll., I. (1858), 117 et seq. For examples from
Normandy with headpieces shaped like the Shrewsbury
examples and securely dated to the 12th century, see
Abbe Cochet, Sepultures Gauloises, Romaines, Franques
et Normandes, 3<Z3. 1 owe this reference to Mr., G.C.
Dunning.

2., H.Pidgeon, Memorials of Shrewsbury, 30.
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about the time of the Conquest to have been the most
splendid and therefore'possibly the most important church
in the town.l During the restoration in 1864 foundations
of a Saxon structure of at least two periods were
discovered beneath the present nave. It had a structurally
undivided nave and chancel 76 ft. x 27 ft. with a semi-
circular apse of 11 ft. radius. The chancel-nave was of
reused material, the apse not, but no dating cohclusions
can be safely deduced from this difference.2 The late

Sir Alfred Clapham considered the form of the apse might
warrant its ascription to the 10th or 1lth century. In
the 16th century Henry VIII's Commissioners were told the
church was founded by King Edgar (959-975) for the
maintenance of a dean, seven prebendaries, and a parish
priest,3 and despite the lack of early evidence Mrs.
Dorothy Styles's study of some of the comparative material,

namely the King's Chapels in Staffordshire,4

suggests the
College may in fact have been founded by him. This does
not of course help to date the architectural remains, nor

does it preclude the existence of an earlier church which

1. R.R. Darlington, Vita Wulfstani, (Roy. Hist. Soc., 1928),

L]

2. For the original report of Saxon discoveries at St.Mary's,
TSAS, 2s VI (1894), 358-371. TFor important later
Observations, D.H.3. Cranage, Churches of Shropshire,

924 et seq.; A.W. Clapham, English Romanesque Architecture
before the Conquest, 96n.; F.H. Fairweather, Aisleless
Apsidal Churches of Great Britain, 12, 45.

3. A.Hamilton Thompson, Certificates of the Shropshire
Chantries, TSAS, 3s X (1910), 305.

4. MWrs.Dorothy Styles, The Early History of the King's
Chapels in Staffordshire, B'hm Arch.JSoc.lrans., LX (1936),

56“95 -
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was reconstituted by Edgar. Archdeacon Lloyd developed
an elaborate argument based on dedications to prove that
St.llary's is the oldest church foundation in Shrewsbury,l
but his deductions will not bear close scrutiny. They
are invalidated mainly by the projection back of formal
canonization into a period when such a practice did not
exist.

St. Mary's produced the only piece of pre-Conguest
sculpture from Shrewsbury, a slab (Plate 1) found when

2 wDpe head of

heating apparatus was installed in 1880.
the left hand snake seems to resemble those thick-snouted
beast-heads of tenth-eleventh century illuminated initials,
and if the motif on the right resembles anything at all,
it is the basic skeleton of 'Winchester' acanthus
ornament of late attenuated form".3 The slab can
probably be ascribed to the eleventh century, though there
is very little comparative material which has a close
bearing upon it.

The Domesday survey mentions two other churches

about which far less is known. The church of St.Alkmund

held in Shrewsbury twelve houses for canons, so it mus%t

1. TSAS, 2s IV (1892), vii - xiii.

2. TSAS, V (1882), 252, fig.3.

3. Quoted from a letter dated 20 December 1951 by
Mr., P. Lasko, of the British Museum, to whom the
photograph was submitted.
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have been a minster of considerable importance. Owen

and Blakeway say it was founded by Aethelflaed the daughter

of Alfred, quoting the "leiger of Lilleshall Abbey" in

the Cottonian library; I found no reference to the

foundation in the same abbey's cartulary.l
There is however some slight evidence to suggest

she may have been the founder.. The Church of St.Alkmund

at Derby is similarly associated with Aethelflaed, and was

no doubt founded by her in 917 when she captured the

borough from the Danes, bringing, so it has been said,

the Saint's relics with her and establishing his cult

there.2

Although the picturesque detail that she carried
the Saint's bones in her train rests on exceedingly dubious
evidence 3 i accords with the well-founded historical
assoclation of Aethelflaed with a special veneration for
Alkmund. The distribution of dedications to this saint
shows they are confined to places which could reasonably

be connected with the queen's two foundations.4

1, 0 & B. II 262; the cartulary, unpublished, is in the
possession of the Duke of Sutherland, to whom 1 am
indebted for permission to examine it. It is at Trentham.

2. Acta Sanctorum, March III, 47-49; there is a good
critical summary in Smith and Wace, Dict.Christian Biog.

3. A MS sermon in the possession of Alban Butler, Lives o
the Saints, March 222; c¢f. Smith and Wace, op.ci%.,

4. Miss PF. Arnold-Forster, English Church Dedications, II,
324-5, lists the following dedications to St.Alkmund:
Blyborough (Linecs), Duffield (Derbys), and Whitchurch
(Salop), to which may be added Aymestrey (Herefs),
dedicated to SS. John Baptist and Alkmund. Although I

have not investigated the matter, the restricted
distribution suggests Duffield may be an offshoot of

Derby, and Whitchurch and Aymestrey offshoots of
Shrewsbury. Cranage, op.cit., 735, followin% Eyton

Antiquities of Shropshire, X, 14 ff., says, Therecggtgo
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The church of St. Juliana received the barest
mention in Domesday Book; 1its assessment at half a hide
may be compared with St. Alkmund's at two hides, St.Mary's
at 1 virgate (a quarter of a hide), and St.Chad's at 13
hides.

The basis of this purely financial assessment is
uncertain, so it is a poor guide to the relative importance
of the churches. Despite the total lack of any positive
evidence it nevertheless seems likely that St.Juliana's
was the least important of the four.

When St. Alkmund's and St.Juliana's were rebuilt
in the eighteenth century no archaeological discoveries
were reported.

It is possible that a fifth church mentioned in
the Domesday Survey also had a pre-Conquest origin, though
the evidence is inconclusive. "In Shrewsbury city Earl
Roger is making an abbey and has given to it the minster
of St.Peter where there was a parish of the city." 1 mhis
must be the oratory of St.Peter in which Wulfstan chose to

pray rather than in the more imposing church of St.Mary,

4. (Contd... from previous page)
mention of a church (at Whitchurch) in Domesday Book,
but shortly afterwards one was built of white stone and
the o0ld name of the place, Westonz was abandoned for
Whitchurch, or "Album Monasterium™. So unusual a
dedication suggests a direct connection with a similarly-
dedicated mother church, and in this case would fit in
with the rapid development of a parish system which was
then taking place; cf. p.22.

l. Translation in V.C.H., Shropshire, I.
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1

and for which hé forecast a splendid future. The

absence of any hidage assessment for this church, which
appears merely as a wooden chapel at the east gate of |
Shrewsbury in the account of the abbey given by Orde:icus
Vitalis,2 (who may here be followed with complete éonfidgnce
as hig father was granted the chapel), makes it likely
that the term "minster" was very loosely app}ied.
Ordericus's evidence relates to post-Conquest history;
the theory of a pre-Cbnquest origin for St.Peter's therefore
rests solely on the assumption that a church-builder like
Roger de Montgomery would hardly have built a wooden chapel
or oratory in a city already boasting four important
churches, to which he himself was adding a fifth, St.
Michael's in the castle.

In attempting to place the churches of Shrewsbury
in ehronological order of foundation two potential sources
of information must be considered; parish boundaries and
dedications. The basis upon which parish boundaries
are here interpreted is the assumption that the oldest
dhurch in the town is likely to have the largest or most
valuable parish, and that however important later

foundqtions might become, they would not acquire parochﬁal

l. Vita Wulfstani,B6<C.
2, Historia Ecclesiastica, ed. A.le Prevost, II, 415.
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pre-eminence save by some extraordinary transfer of
rights. | o

| A gléhce at the maps‘published in 1837 by the
Borough Bouﬁdaries Commission shows the former abbey of
St.Peter, by theo the’church of the Holy Cross, to have
t@e largeét and most compact parish in the neighbourhood.
This abea must have boen carved out of the parishes 1
of the oider‘pre-Conquest\churches, whether just before
or just'éfto?’is unimpoftant for the present purpose.
Tha% somé unit corresponding to St.Peter's parish existed
there befofo>the00nquest‘is probable, but it may‘have
been ehlarged by Earl Roger. For the remaining parishes
the Rev. W;A. Léighton gives a good brief estimate of
their relative importance in his day. The parish of
St;Chad 6is by far the lorgost in the place, comprising
ver& nearly half the town, and a.great extent of the
surrounding country".e St.Juliana's "comprehends the
Wyle, the Wyle Cop, and under the Wyle, and considerable

disjointed portions extending wide into the country";3

1, Parish is not used-here in its strict medieval sense,
~_ but merely as indicating the area in which a "minster"
" carried on its work; even in the ninth and tenth
centuries the establishment of churches was no doubt
accompanied by some division of spheres of activity.
2. Rev. W.A. Leighton, Guide through the Town of Shrewsbury,
127: "largest in the place", i.e. within the loop of
the Severn. (He was writing ¢.1840).
3. ibid., 112.
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it thus included the route up from the ancient ford by
which alone the town could be entered from the east, as
well as the important street as its summit called The
Wyle. St. Mary's parish "included about a fourth part
of the whole town, nearly the entire suburb of the Castle
Foregate, and extends several miles into the country". 1
St.Alkmund's parish "comprises only a small part of the
town, but contains many insulated portions of the
neighbourhood”; 2 the "small part", however, comprises
Butcher Row, Fish Street and Pride Hill, most, that is to
say, of the ancient town centre.

Leighton's remarks rather suggest that the church
of St. Chad was first in the field and established a strong
parochial claim which was recognised throughout the middle
ages. Clearly its parish was much larger than that of
the splendid royal foundation of St. Mary's. It is harder
to assess the relative importance of the other three
parishes. St. Alkmund's parish, central and compact
(fig. 3), suggests a considerable antiquity, and although
St. Mary's and St. Juliana's parishes comprise a larger
area within the Severn loop, they are peripheral to the
heart of the pre-Conquest town. The significance of this

point will be further discussed below. (p. 32.).

l. 4ibid., 70.
2, ibid., 109.
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All three parishes no doubt lost part of their territory
to the latest arrival, St.Peter's, and in view of this
complication no further conclusion can be reached. Two
other points nevertheless deserve mention. The fact that

1 whereas

the parish of St.Chad was served by two priests
the others had only one seems to confirm its pre-eminence.
The interweaving of St.Mary's and St.Juliana's parishes
north of the town suggests a complicated attempt to respect
ancient rights rather than a territorial division between
the four churches at any given date.2

About our second source of information something
has already been said in discussing the churches of St.Chad
and St.Alkmund; more general considerations must now be
mentioned. Of Shrewsbury's four pre-Conquest dedications
the two just mentioned are unmistakably of Saxon origin,
and would not be expected in a Norman or later context.
St. Juliana, unique in England, might be of any date.
But the dedication in honour of St.Mary has a more familiar
'modern' sound which marks it off so clearly from the
others that it may be worth while looking for an
explanation. Now if the tradition that St.Mary's was

founded by Edgar were in fact true the dedication would

1. In the 16th century,6 A.Hamilton Thompson, op.cit., 306.
2. S.P.L., 0.5. 1/500 thap with parish boundaries coloured
shows this complexity very clearly; cf. also map in
%gport of the Commissioners on Boundaries and Wards of
oroughs.
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£it in with that "spread of devotion to the Virgin which
was so marked a feature of the English church from the

t" 1 _ interpreting

close of the tenth century to the Conques
"close" rather widely. The growing cult was reflected
in dedications. A rapid survey of the monasteries founded
or refounded in the latter half of the tenth century shows
several in honour of St.Mary, mainly in the south-west.
More directly relevant to Shrewsbury are four royal free
chapels in Staffordshire within the former Kingdom of Mercia;
all have a pre-Conquest origin, Tettenhall, indeed, claiming
Edgar as founder, and all bear a dedication to St.Mary. 3
Such tentative conclusions as can be drawn from parish
boundaries and dedications do therefore support the
traditional sequence of church foundations in Shrewsbury,

namely, St.Chad's, St.Alkmund's, and St.Mary's. Where

St.Juliana's should be placed in the list is not clear;

l. J.R.H. Moorman, Church Life in England in the 13th

Century, 75, quoting E. Bishop, lLiturgice Historica, 227.
2. avistock, Our Lady and St.Rumon; Sherborne, St.vary;
Milton, SS. Mary, Michael, Sampson, and Branwallader;
Cranborne, SS.Mary and Bartholomew; at Milton an
earlier dedication may have been preserved, with the
addition of SS. Mary and Michael when the Monastery was
refounded. It is just possible that SS. Sampson and
Branwallader were added in the time of Athelstan (cf.
J. Armitage Robinson, Life and Times of St.Dunstan), .
but this does not affect the argument in the text. At
Tavistock the joint dedication is certainly original:
cf. H.P.R. Finberg, Tavistock Abbey. Miss Arnold-Forster
noticed this development: '"there was, from the tenth or
eleventh century .... a strong tendency to couple the
name of the Virgin with those of the other Saints":
op.cit., I, 44.
3. Mrs. Dorothy Styles, loc. cit.
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late, probably, but one further scrap of evidence bearing
on the problem will be produced later (p.31 ).

The four principal churches no doubt corresponded
to the "ordinary minster" or "old minster" of the late

0ld English laws. 1

The evidence presented above shows
that two at least had the prestige of royal foundations,
while a third, St.Chad's, may have been an episcopal
foundation. How widely their communities extended the work
of preaching and baptism into the surrounding country-
side could only be estimated properly by detailed research
into the pre-Conquest history of Shropshire; a map of
minsters and monasteries c¢,1035 2 shows only Wenlock,
Morville, and Bromfield as rival centres of religious
activity within the county.

Cranage notes that something like seventy Shropshire
churches were founded before the Conquest, "if we may
always assume the existence of a church where a priest is
mentioned”. 3 Architecturally too the beginnings of a
parish system can be discerned in the surviving remains of
three small Saxon churches, 4 while in Shrewsbury itself
the existence of the parish outside the east gate, where

the father of Ordericus ministered, testifies to such

beginnings; all this evidence comes in late Saxon times.

1. F.M. Stenton, Anglo-Saxon England, 148.
20 ibido, 448.
3. Cranage, op.cit., 1019.

4. Barrow, Diddlebury, and Stanton Lacy.
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Nevertheless the influence of Shrewsbury, though no doubt
diminished in the century before the Norman Conquest, must
have extended over a very wide area, particularly to the
north where no rival minsters existed, and must greatly
have enhanced the town's importance as a focus for other

activities besides the purely religious.

The five churches and the 252 houses which are
mentioned in Domesday Book imply that by 1066 Shrewsbury
was a border town of sufficient size and importance to
require fortification. That the situation of the town was
not considered adequate protection even in the earliest era
of Mercian settlemenf is implied by the name-termination
"-bury". "It is unlikely that Shrewsbury, which is des-
cribed as ; city in a charter of 901, was merely an open

town", 1

and it is not mentioned among the burhs fortified
by Aethelflaed in the early tenth century. Nor ig there
any obvious line of an early rampart, wall or ditch
fosgilised in the street plan; and it is worth noting
that Hereford, another border town liable to Welsh
incursions and Danish raids, had a garrison before 914 2

but was not fortified before 1055. 3 There too, unless

1. Stenton, op.cit., 322., quoting Birch, Cart.Sax., 587.
2. ibvid.,
3. F.M. Stenton, Pre-Conguest Herefordshire,

R.C.H.M. Herefordshire, III, ix.
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the 12th-13th century wall follows the line of the llth-
century palisade and ditch, no trace remains of early
defences. The Domesday Survey makes no reference to
burgages in Shrewsbury specially liable to repair the town
wall, such as are mentioned at Oxford and Worcester.l A
writ of 1231 2 which says that the old stockade and the
old bretasche of the old ditch of Shrewsbury are to be
granted to the burgesses for strengthening the new ditch
shows that in the early l3th century the town somewhere
had a defence similar to that built two centuries before
at Hereford. There is however no clue to where the ditch
was - it may have run across the neck of the peninsula -
nor when it had been cut. Ordericus Vitalis describes the
new Abbey of St.Peter as being at the east gate ("ad
orientalem portam propiae urbis"), 3 so there must have
been some sort of encircling defence, perhaps a rampart and
ditch, by 1083. This implication is the only evidence for
a wall as early as the llth century.

The documentary evidence is manifestly insufficient
to prove the existence of pre-Congquest town defeﬁces. It
may therefore be useful to consider the historical events

which have a bearing on the problem. The Tth-century

expansion of Mercia pushed the western frontier of that

1. F.M.Stenton, Introduction to the Oxfordshire Dome sday,
V.C.H. Oxon., I, 396; A-S E Iand 521.

2. 508 clted by —E.S. Armitage, Barly
Norman Cas les, 207-8

3. Historla Eche31astlca, loc.cit.
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kingdom so far to the west of Shrewsbury that there was
no serious threat from Wales for at least two centuries,
until Mercian power was threatened by the incursions of the
Danes. That there was nevertheless a considerable local
danger in the parts adjacent to Wales is shown by the
building of Wat's Dyke, which "probably represents a
delimitation of a particularly dangerous part of the
Mercian frontier in the seventh or early eighth century." 1
For the late ninth and early tenth centuries the
best account of the dangers threatening Shrewsbury is
contained in a survey of north-west Mercia by Dr. F.T.
Wainwright; 2 though his survey does not deal with the
town directly its implications are clear, and upon it
the following account is based. A Welsh revolt in 852 or
853 3 shows that the Danes, whose raids were just beginning,
were not the only potential threat to the peace of Shropshire.
In 855 a Danish army made the first incursion up the Severn

4

into the Wrekin country. Thereafter for some years

they seem not to have disturbed the region, not in fact

5

before the summer of 893, when they came up the Severn

as far as Buttington, near Welshpool, where they were

l. Stenton, A-S England, 211; and see Fox, Arch. Camb.,
LXXXIX (1§§4), 3-5. For this paragreph generally
see Stenton, op.cit.

2. F.T. Wainwright, North-west Mercia, 871-924, Trans.
Historic Soc. of Lancs and Cheshire, 94 (19427, 3-35.

3. lEla., 5. R

. Stenton, op.cit., 241 n.5.

5. Wainwright, art.cit., 9, 1ll.
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besieged for several weeks. Later in the same year
they went to Chester, whence they were compelled to

1 though by what route is unknown.

depart for Wales,
In 895 the Danes rode to Bridgnorth and wintered there.
Throughout the years 893 to 895 it can hardly be doubted
that the shire town of Shropshire, with its vital strategic
position at a river crossing and an excellent tactical
situation, was a centre of military activity. The paucity
of Mercian annals is probably the reason why there is no
direct mention of Shrewsbury. Clearly in 893 it was dir-
ectly threatened by the passage of the Danish army, and

at other times Danish raiding and foraging parties must
have approached it closely.

In the early 10th century Aethelflaed of Mercia
fortified many of the chief settlements in the Severn
valley and adjacent districts in order to meet this threat
of highly mobile raiding armies. Worcester, Chester,
Stafford, Tamworth, all centres of population, were
provided with defences; Bridgnorth, Chirbury and Eddisbury
were new fortresses, and Hereford and Gloucester were
garrisoned.

It is noteworthy, as Dr.Wainwright points out, that
Stafford and PTamworth were fortified shortly after a Danish
raid in 913, and "Chirbury was built apparently in

anticipation of trouble from Wales." 2

l., ibid., 11, 13.
2, ibid., 24.
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Some protection Shrewsbury must have had, lying
as it does on a vital point for communication between all
the places mentioned. Nor was defence less necessary when
the Danish threat had passed, for by the early eleventh
century English power had so far declined as to enable the
Welsh in Shropshire and Herefordshire to reconquer territory
far beyond the frontier of Offa's Dyke. 1 The forty-
shilling fine imposed on those who refused to take up arms
and accompany the Sheriff into Wales 2 shows that border
warfare was a common experience for the men of Shrewsbury
in the time of King Edward, and the city's duty to provide
a mounted armed guard for the king when he hunted nearby

3

indicates the likely attacks of raiders.

On general historical grounds, therefore, the
existence of a pre-Conquest burh at Shrewsbury is hardly
to be doubted, but its character is as completely unknown as
that of most other burhs. The Rev. C.H.Drinkwater indeed
claimed to have discovered a stone "inner wall" of pre-

Conquest 4 date, for which there is neither analogy nor

l. James Tait, Introduction to the Shropshire Domesday,
V.C.H. Shropshire, 1, 279; B.G. Charles, Non-Celfic
Place-Names in Wales, Introduction.

?. D.BR., V.C.H.,1, 309.

3. cf. J.H. Round, V.C.H. Hereford, I, 298.

4, BRev., C.H. Drinkwater, The Inner Wall of Shrewsbury, TSAS,
VI (1883), 257-267 and Arch. Cambrensis, 4s X111 (1882),
42-50,
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documentary evidence elsewhere at that period, with the
possible exception of Oxford and Cricklade; 1 it will
therefore be discussed in detail with the thirteenth century
wall (Chapter III).

The possibility of pre-Conquest stone walls being
remote we cannot be sure what topographical traces we should
expect to find, and this extreme uncertainty may perhaps
excuse the speculations which follow.

Seeking first for analogies we find that burh defences
are best known from Eddisbury in Cheshire ? and Witham in
Essex, 3 both being reused Iron Age forts. There are also

4

Maldon in Essex ' and Little Bredy in Dorset, > which seem

to be original earthworks of late ninth or early tenth

century date. At Tamworth a defensive trench called Offa's

6

Ditch was visible at least as late as 1923, while at

I

Wareham and Wallingford substantial earth banks are laid

out on a square plan. There are no doubt other places where

le H.E. Salter, Medieval Oxford, 7-17; but whether the wall
was of stone is still an open question. I have to thank
Dr. F.T. Wainwright for telling me about recent
excavations at Cricklade.

?. W.J. Varley, The Hill-Forts of the Welsh Marches, Arch.J.
CV (1948), 64-5.

3. F.M. Stenton, Anglo-Saxon England, 331; Hugh Braun,

The English Castle, IT, for its being an Iron Age fort.

4, Braun, loc.cit.

5. R.C.H.M., West Dorset, 38.

6. C. MasefieId, staffordshire (The Little Guides), 3rd edn.
(19723), 226. The date of the ditch is uncertain, and it
is mentioned here only to indicate the general charagter
of Saxon fortification. A. Hamilton Thompson, Military
Architecture in the Middle Ages, 32, accepted the
attribution to Offa.

T. Lxcavation has since proved the pre-Conquest date of
these banks.
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pre-Conquest defences survive, but I have found information
only about these seven.

Eddisbury, Witham and Little Bredy are all earthworks
which make use of contours or other natural features, 1 SO
this characteristic is one we might reasonably expect to
find elsewhere. Size is more difficult to use as a
criterion because the adaptation of natural features will
obviously entail wide variations.

There is only one part of Shrewsbury where it would
have been possible to site an earthen rampart conforming
to a contour and at the same time having a commanding aspect
on every side, that is within the area bounded by High
Street, Castle Street, Windsor Place, Dogpole, and the top
part of Wyle Cop. To the west lay a large tract of bog
which would have been a hindrance to the defenders had it
been enclosured within the circuit of ramparts. Beyond that
it is necessary to go to the line of the thirteenth century
town wall to get a good defensive position, and even so this

cannot be achieved on the north towards the Severn. More-

over such a large size is improbable for a new-built burh

and would only be reasonable where a pre-existing earthwork

was adapted, as at Eddisbury.
Considering the suggested defensive line (fig.3) in
greater detail, we start with the sharp slope from Fish Street

to High Street which is now masked throughout its remaining

length (except at Grope Lane) by walls in basements and by

1. I omit discussion of Wareham and Wallingford; their
square plans are quite unlike anything at Shrewsbury.
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a short exposed stretch of masonry described and illustrated
below (Chapter III). This line runs roughly N.N.W. to
Pride Hill (fig.3). The slope falling away to the river
on the N.W. side of Pride Hill and Castle Street is its
continuation, whence a contour-line would be maintained

by swinging to the S.E. including St.Mary's church, and on
to the Guildhall. From there across Dogpole the course is
fairly plain, following the contour beneath St.Juliana's

~ church and so back to the starting-point. Such a course
approximates to a contour-line and makes possible the
building of an earth rampart at a more or less constant
level about 230 ft. above 0.D.

The area is about 9 - 10 acres on a rough calculation.
It seems comparable to Witham, where "an outer ditch
surrounded an area of 26 acres, roughly oval in outline,
within which a scarped enclosure of nearly 10 acres formed
a citadel". 1 This analogy may be useful in considering
some further evidence.

We may imagine, then, a palisaded eastern rampart
built upon our 230 ft. contour line, the slope below it
steepened by scarping, and within the enclosure so formed
stood the church of St.Alkmund. On the approximate line of
the bank or immediately adjacent to it are the later churches

of St.Mary and St.Juliana. The early eleventh century church

1. Stenton, loc. cit.
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of St.Martin at Wareham, placed just inside the formidable
earth ramparts which surround the town, 1 springs to mind
as a close parallel and there is the earlier analogy of
St.Peter's at Bradwell-on-Sea, built astride the Roman wall
of Ythancester; 2 both stand beside gates. If the
conclusions reached above about the relative dates of the
Shrewsbury churches are correct, we find Aethelflaed's
church of St.Alkmund excellently placed to serve the burh
in the early 10th century; half a century later St.Mary's
is built, and at some unknown date St.Juliana's, both sited
on or near the ramparts with an eye to the defensive
possibilities of a stone building, and commanding each a
gate.

At this point parish boundaries may add something
to the story. It will be noted (fig.3) that the parish
of St.Alkmund includes the whole area of the suggested burh
except for small portions on the fringes which were the
minimum required to delimit the bounds of the late extra-
burghal parishes. But there is more of St.Alkmund's parish
than lies within the burh rampgrts: it extends down Roushill
Bank and Roushill to Severn side, and back fairly directly
to a point near the High Cross. The lower part of the
dog's~-hind-leg line taken by the parish boundary is probably

explicable as the best tactical position covering the ground

1. G.Baldwin Brown, The Arts in Early England, II
Ecclesiastical Architecture, -
2. R.C.H.W., Essex, IV, 1I5.
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to the west; it hg; throughout a very slight advantage
of height over Mardol, which with the ford, it may be said
to command. The upper part, now called Rpushill Bank,
seems to carry on the line of High Street, which follows
the foot of a scarp below the burh rampart. Roushill Bank,
like High Street, is therefore to be regarded as a post-
Conquest development; Jjust what form the burh took in this
lower, ill-drained quarter of the town is not clear. The
direct return from the river to the High Cross was presumably
necessitated by the existence of a marsh where Smithfield
now stands.l
This parochial boundary may mark an extension of the
burh, comparable in a very general way to the large
enclosure at Witham. Interpreted like this the burh
fits perfectly into its most likely historical setting.
Its two ends are on the Severn, so placed to block the
passage of vessels coming up or down the river. Not
obly does it control communications along the north-south
waterway, it bestrides the east-west land route and com-
pletely commands the passage of both fords.
The date the burh was built is indicated firstly by
its clear intention to check waterborne raiders on the
Severn, who could be none other than the Danes, and secondly

by the relation of the churches to the defences; in con-

Junection they point to a date early in the 10th century

1. Smithfield was not drained until the 18th century.
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and the direct instigation of Aethelflaed. In this
historical conﬁext there is inevitably a temptation to
identify it with the fortress built by her at 'Sceargate'

in May 912, L even though the place-name evidence seems to
make this impossible. We know that Worcester had been
fortified at the bishop's request “towards the end of
Alfred's reign"; 2 the Roman walls of Chester were restored
in 907; 3 next came the unidentified 'Bremesbyrig'! in 910.
The campaign to recover the east midlands from the Danes
began "before the end of 911", 4 and in its earliest phase
was marked by concern for the Severn crossings and the Roman
and other main roads. Bridgnorth, built in the summer of
912, guards the only river crossing between Shrewsbufy and
Worcester, and controls the probable route by which the
Danish raiders were returning home when they were destroyed
at Tettenhall in 909. >  Tamworth was fortified in the early
summer of 913 to command both the nearby Roman road and the
aproach from Nottingham and Ashby; Stafford followed in
July of the same year, to defend another approach from the

6

north-east and possibly to deny the crossing of the

river Sowe to the Danes. At the risk of special pleading,

l. Stenton, op.cit., 322; F.T. Wainwright, North-West
Mercia, A.D. 871-924, Trans.Hist.Soc. Lancs and Cheshire,
73.

2. Stenton, op.cit. 52l.

3. Wainwright, loc. cit; and further references to
Aethelfaed's forts from the same source.

4. 1ibid.

5. ibid.

6. Wainwright, op.cit., 24 n.l.
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I suggest that Shrewsbury fits into place perfectly

at the beginning of this strategy. The major centres of
Worcester and Chester, together with the unknown 'Bremesbyrig'’
were fortified well before the campaign began. The next
staée of preparation for the offensive was to protect the
two other important Severn crossings in north-west Mercia,
Shrewsbury and Bridgnorth. And if imagination may be
allowed some play we may picture Aethelflaed, fully aware
of the importance of this initial step in a four-year
campaign of fortification, dedicating a church in hihnour of
Alkmund, the saint she held in special veneration. Not
until six years later when the campaign had had its first
brilliant success with the assault on Derby in 917 did she
repeat in the captured Danish stronghold this act of piety
to the Saint.

Flights of fancy apart, if the existence and
approximate location of the burh be accepted, without
prejudice to its precise dating, further analysis of its
plan is possible. The modern High Street may represent
more or less the bottom of the scarped slope which faces
south-west, forming in places a natural ditch. Pride Hill
and possibly St.Mary's Street are in origin, streets lining
the perimeter of what may be called, on the analogy of
Witham, the "citadel". Nearer the south-east end of the
irregular oval-shaped plan was the church of St.Alkmund,

its parish coterminous with the burh, and surrounded by a
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large open space which served as a graveyard and market-
place. Dr. W.G. Hoskins has described a parallel feature
in Devon, where many villages "represent the earlier
settlement of the Saxon conquest, nucleated villages of
the Teutonic type built around an open square or a great
rectangular space with the leader's house at the side or
the end. This was the burh which gives us the name 'bury'’
for the ground near the centre of several Devonshire
villages". 1 The buildings to the north-west of St.Alkmund's
church are an encroachment upon the ancient market-place
and no doubt other houses around its sides also gradually
gained space on what was once burghal ground. At the
southern tip of the burh stood the mechanical contrivance
or 'wil', presumably a gate or moveable barrier, the
memory of which is perpetuated in the name Wyle Cop.

Pish Street (pl.5) seems to have been the original
eastern entrance to the burh, placed where it is rather than
at the extreme east end of the fortification in order to
provide easy access to the earlier settlement around St.
Chad's. Butcher Row too is a very ancient street, leading
perhaps to a gate across Pride Hill and so out towards

Wales., If, as suggested above, the lower stretch of

1. The Making of the Agrarian Landscape; Hoskins and
Fimberg, Devonshire Studies, 3003.

o, Ekwall, writing of other Wyle names in Berkshire and
Dorset, says it is derived from the late O0.E. 'wil'
"trick", "used of some mechanical contrivance, as a
windmill or trap; Oxf. Dict.Eng.Place-Names; I am
indebted to Professor Bruce Dickins for the derivation,
and for directing me to Ekwall's interpretation.
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Roushill preserves the line of a rampart, it represents
an original inner defensive walk. The exact location of
the northern entrance to the burh is very uncertain. St.
Mary's Street has level ground immediately to the east
and west and so can hardly preserve the line of an early
rampart. Since the whole of the churchyard is flat

we must look for a defensive line overlooking the river,
somewhere near the present east end of the church. The
east end of St.Mary's Place appears on this reasoning to
be the most likely spot for a gate, the stone-built church
forming a strong-point on its northern flank. From it a
direct line of approach to the market-place runs along

Church Street.

30 much for the burh itself. Having thus isolated
one important element from the later street plan it may be
possible to reconstruect the topographical development of
Shrewsbury prior to the Norman Conquest.

At whatever date in the fifth or sixth century
Pengwern was founded, the first settlement probably coincided
with an anarchic condition of intermittent warfare following
the collapse of Roman rule. The Saxons who reoccupied the
site after destroying the Welsh capital were in no less
need of a good tactical position, and by studying topography

it may be possible to reconstruct the defensive situation
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in these two earliest phases of Shrewsbury's history.

On the north side of old St.Chad's church the ground sloped
gradually down to a large bog where The Square and High
Street now stand. To the west a natural line of defence
would embrace the middle part of Swan Hill, between College
Hill and Swan Hill Court; from it the ground falls away

t0o north and west towards St.John's Hill with an average
drop of about twenty feet. Thence a line running for a
short distance along Swan Hill Court and so on to join
Belmont at a point due west of the Judgeé' Lodgings follows
approximately a contour-line, below which the ground drops
towards the river. DProceeding south-east of Belmont and
across the upper end of Belmont Bank it rejoins the protecting
bog very near the east end of old St.Chad's church. This,
if the site and date of the other defensive earthwork have
been correctly conjectured, was "Scrobb's burg", the "eity"
@entioned in a charter of 901 (p.23), defended, probably,
by no more than a palisade. Certainly no hint of earth-
work survives. It may originally have been approached
from the east by Beeches Lane and the steep, winding road
called Belmont Bank.l Not only is this the more direct
approach, but it has the tactical advantage for the
inhabitants of being at its steepest quite near the entrance
to the settlement. Wyle Cop, it may be noted, showed the

game feature in relation to the presumed later burh before

lo Plo 4.
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the steepest upper part was somewhat levelled in the nine-
teenth century; moreover it provides a direct road from
the river-crossing only to the burh and not to the earliest
settlement-area. It is less easy to trace the ancient
road towards Wales because almost the whole north-west
quarter of the present town has since been planned anew
and redeveloped.

This earliest nucleus of Shrewsbury clustered near
0ld St.Chad's must always have been of very limited extent.
Even today there is still a large piece of open ground
west of the o0ld church: on the south side towards Belmont
development seems to have come much later and was in any
case naturally restricted by the steep riverward slope,
which limits the possibilities of settlement on the line
of high ground followed by Milk Street to a single line of
tenements with gardens. The site of the medieval college,
the south side of College Hill and the south east side of
Swan Hill may all have seen some building before the
Conquest, but there can never have been anything like a
town here.

Finally the existence of later earth walls explains a
reference in 1380 to a district called "Ultra Muros", 1
by which is meant the area of Kiln Lane (Princess Street)

and Belmont; the early nucleus of settlement around St.

1. Poll Tax, 1380; TSAS, 2s II (1890), 21.
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Chad's was through topographical necessity excluded from
the fortification, and the name "Beyond the walls" was applied
to it,

Then in the early tenth century a burh was built to
the north of the 0ld site as a protection against the Danes.
Its layout has already been described, but one question
requires further discussion: how was the burh approached
from the direction of Wales? Presumably the way up from
the ford led along Mardol, turned left into Mardol Head
and Pride Hill, and so into Butcher Row. The left-hand
turn into Mardol Head would be necessary to skirt the bog
which lay immediately ahead. This looks a fairly obvious
way, but it presented a striking contrast with Wyle Cope.
On both sides of the burh is a steep hillside; that on the
English side is overcome by & steep and sinuous approach,
that on the Welsh side by straight streets and right-angled
turns. Now High Street and The Square nearby are certainly
part of a planned street layout. Excavation in High Street
in 1886 revealed along the south-west side "about 15 feet
below the present level .... oak piles in situ, running
parallel with the street, and obviously placed as a
boundary of the bog, and for sustaining the roadway.
The piles were about six to eight inches in diameter,
about a foot apart, and quite sound. I saw about three

lll

feet of their length uncovered.... The date this

1. W.P(hillips), TSAS, IX (1886), 394.
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construction was undertaken is quite unknown, save that it
was certainly before 1246, when "Gomestall" (Gombestole
Street, the earliest name of High Street) is mentioned. 1
The Square was laid out about 1261, when the market was trans-
ferred from the cemetries of St.,Juliana's and St.Alkmund's, 2
It is therefore possible that the adjacent area of
Mardol Head and Shoplatch was altered at the same time,
so0 giving it a regular and rectilinear plan.

At all events by the middle of the tenth century
there were two focal points around which a town could grow.
Apart from the construction of two churches, St.Mary's and
St.Juliana's, nothing more is known about Shrewsbury before
the Domesday description of the borough in the time of
King Edward. The most important topographical statement
in that record is that "the Earl's castle has occupied
51 burgages", 3 from which the existence of a considerable
pre-Conquest settlement has been inferred, although the
spot must have been a barren rocky eminence then; no doubt
houses anywhere near the new motte and bailey were destroyed
as a security measure, so I am inclined to think that most
of the burgages in question stood between the bailey and
St.Mary's church.

What the Domesday statement does certainly show is

that a substantial proportion of the 252 burgages mentioned

. Rental of 1246 quoted by T.Phillips. History and
1. Abtiquities of Shrewsbuly, =gt >4

2. CCR, 1259-61, 351.
3. VCH, I, 310.
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as existing in 1065 were outside the burh ramparts, 51 of
them presumably clustered along the road leading northward,
and no doubt there were other such groups.

Outside the loop of the Severn there is hardly
any evidence of pre-Conquest settlement. The existence
of "a parish of the city" where later the Abbey grew up
(p.16) implies early development there along the main
road to the east and south. Coleham is probably a pre-
Conquest name, "apparently identical with Colham (Mx.)
meaning "hamm" (riverside land) belonging to Cola." 1
No person of this name has so far been identified in
Shropshire; the topographical correspondence of the -hamm

derivation and the place itself suggests there was no

considerable habvitation there.

The stages in the development of Shrewsbury from
a Dark Age Welsh capital into the substantial city recorded
in Domesday, and the causes underlying that development,
can only be hinted at. It is reasonable to assume that
the strategic possibilities of the site - commanding the
only good crossings in many miles of a major waterway and
the roads and tracks of a wide area - coupled with its
tactical advantages, were the most important factors

leading to the establishment of the "capital" of Powys.

1. ex. inf. Professor Bruce Dickins.
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These considerations applied for centuries afterwards.

As early as the time of Offa there is a hint that this
military importance was enhanced, however slightly, by
trading connections. Sir Cyril Fox considered only two
openings in the Dyke were original; "one of these is on
the west slope of the Long Mountain, and from it a

road, probably ancient, leads to the ridgeway on the west
of the massif. The other permitted the passage of the
Kerry Hill ridgeway, a route into and from the core of the
central mountain-system of Wales, the importance of which
js shown by the "cross-ridge" dykes which traverse it." 1
These openings were unmarked by constructional features,

so that passage was uninterrupted; their situation in
relation to ridgeways implies some purpose beyond a purely
1oca} one, presumably long-distance trade. Both ridgeways,
but more especially that on the Long Mountain, gave access
to Shrewsbury. No source tells us what the objects of 8th-
century trade were in this region - James Tait remarked
that the Domesday county had no characteristic trade 2 .
though the 8th-9th century bronze pin mentioned above
(p.ll) is potentially significent, and the distribution of

the type may one day indicate the direction of cultural

connections.

1. Cyril Fox, Arch. Cambrensis, LXXXIV (1929), 48.
2, V.C.H. Shropshire, I, 279.
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Like any other burh, Shrewsbury had its mint. It
first appears in the reign of Athelstan, during whose
reign eight moneyers are known to have struck coins bearing
the town mint-mark. 1 The decline after this reign in
the number of moneyers recorded from the town is a
reflection of the general disuse of local mint-marks
rather than of any decrease in Shrewsbury's economic
activity. Not until the late 10th century can we again
use moneyers to estimate the relative importance of towns.
Fifteen Shrewsbury moneyers are known for the thirty-seven
years of Aethelred II (979-1016); fourteen for the nineteen
years of Cnut (1016-35), and ten for the twenty-four years
of Edward the Confessor (1042-66). It would be dangerous
to infer from these figures variations in the town's status
or economic position, but the element of chance in the
discovery of coins and the complicating factor of Danegeld
mint activity need not render suspect the conclusion that
a centre of trade was steadily growing here from the early
10th century to the Conquest. Domesday states that there
were three moneyers working here simultaneously in the
time of King Edward.

For the late Saxon period the roads (fig.?) offer
no clear evidence about any trade or commerce which flowed

along themn. It was no doubt along the Roman Road that

l. Statements about 001na%e are based on G.C. Brooke,

English coings "lists 60,63, 75",
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Edmund Aethling and Earl Uhtred came from Staffordshire in
1016. 1 This road must’have been a2 main artery of
communication in this part of the Mercian kingdom, since
it linked Tamworth, the capital, with the very important
bishopric of Lichfield, and both to the western border
districts bounded by Offa's Dyke. It is significant of
the road's continued use that a National Council was held
at Penkridge in 958; it implies that men from all parts
of the kingdom could get there easily, and presumably by
the Roman routes. Edmund and Uhtred departed from
Shrewsbury to Chester, and Wulfstan, bishop of Worcester
at the time of the Conquest, is recorded as making the same
journey; 2 evidently the Worcester-Shrewsbury-Chester
road, well known in the later Middle Ages, 3 was already
an important and recognised route. Confirmation of the
use of Roman roads may be seen in the sheriff's duty to
send twenty-four horses with the king as far as the first
manor in Staffordshire, and he had to make the same
provision as far as Leintwardine. For the navigation
of the Severn in the early Middle Ages there is no evidence
whatever, though it must have been used for short journeys.
A strong agricultural element is evident in the

economy of Shrewsbury as of other Domesday boroughs.

1. Plummer, Two A-S Chronicles Parallel, sub anno.
2. Vita Wulfstani, loc.cit.
3. €.g. Gough map, O.S. edn.
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Burgages in the Borough are tied to manors in the county,

so that to Emstrey (Eiminstre, D.B.) held by the abbey of
St.Peter a single burgage property was attached, at
Woodcote (Udecote, D.B.) a burgess rendered eight shillings,
at Shelton two burgesses were labouring on land of St.
Juliana's, while no less than nine burgesses pertained

to Meole Brace (Mela, D.B.). Confirmation of this
agricultural character is perhaps provided by archaeological
discovery. When the foundations of the Town and Shire
Hall were dug in 1783 .on the site of the bog mentioned
earlier (pp.l, 24) traces of agricultural activity were
found - grain, straw, cattle-dung and nut-shells are
mentioned - and about 1927, when Della Porta's premises
were rebuilt, came more remarkable evidence. "At the
north-eastern corner of the building a large square manure-
pit was found, surrounded by oak piles, driven many feet
into the unstable ground, and there were ordinary palings
and a gate between the piles, to one of which was attached
a chain for tethering goats or small animals.... The
surface of the manure pit was eight feet below the level

of High Street." T No photographs, plans or further details
seem to exist of this unusual site, nor do any small finds
such as the chain seem to have found their way to the

Museum. The real character of the site is as uncertain

1. A.W. Ward, The Shrewsbury of 1772 (pamphlet), 11;
Owen, Ancient and Present State, 411.
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as its date, and is not necessaril& pre-Conquest, though
perhaps more characteristic of that than any later period.
A nearby market site (established after 1261) would

account for the grain and straw and dung, but the evidence
of structures points to the existence of farm-buildings.

One other interesting object, "a complete boat, 10 to

12 feet long", was discovered in the Della Porta excavations.
Why it should have been drawn so far from the Severn is a
mystery; its presence at this spot has led to the
suggestion that here was a pool, but that such a pool

was large enough to require or indeed to permit a boat

upon it is incredible. To have been embedded so deep in
the peat - it rested two feet below the surface of the
manure pit - it must have been there a very long time;

it can hardly be supposed later than the early 13th century,
when the market-place area was built up. To judge from
the meagre description published, it was more or less of
rowing-boat form, and of course, "when handled it collapsed".
Now throughout the Middle Ages fishing and the transport of
small loads was carried on by coracles on the Severn.

Had such a craft been found in the conjectural pond, it
would not have excited surprise, but any plank-built boat
on the Severn at so early a date must have been relatively
too large for so humble a purpose. With these obsgervations

the matter must be left, but the archaeologist can only
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express regret that this remarkable discovery, like all
others made in the town, was so 1ll-recorded. 1
The most obscure aspect of the burh's development
ig its position as an administrative centre. Lying in the
centre of the Wreocensaetan Shrewsbury may always have
been that people's capital. The administrative change
resulting from their enforced "artificial union" with
the Magonsaetan in the first quarter of the 10th century 2
was probably slight in comparison with the economic change,
for as the one borough within the new shire it became the
lawful marketing centre for a much larger area than before.
Moreover this union of the two peoples is not as artificial
as it sounds. As has been noticed earlier, settlements
in the South Shropshire Hills have their natural outlet
to the lowlands though Shrewsbury, which was the com-
pletely logical site for a lOth-century borough linked
with the northern lands of the Magonsaetan. 3
For any estimate of population during this period
the archaeological evidence cannot add to or modify the
basis used by James Tait, his assumption being that each

burgage tenement was occupied by one household averaging

1. A letter to the Shrewsbury Chronicle appealing for
further information about this and other discoveries
produced no result, nor did ingquiries directed to people
concerned with or likely to be interested in such
matters.

2. Stenton, op.cit., 373.

3. ef. 0.S. Map of Britain in the Dark Ages, S. sheet;
Stenton, 0p.Cit.y 200 (mapj.
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five persons. 1 Using Domesday figures the total thus

arrived at for the time of King Edward is about 1250 persons.

A brief note about further possibilities for
the study of Shrewsbury within this period may fitly
terminate this chapter. Archaeological excavation, it
may be hoped, will one day produce pre-Conquest pottery
and other objects which will show cultural associations
with other parts of England. A thorough exploration of
the site of 0ld St.Chad's would probably yield evidenée
of a Saxon church; there is nothing to indicate that
the site has ever been deeply disturbed. It is perhaps too
much to hope that any trace of the defences of this
earliest nucleus will ever be revealed by the spade, but
the ditch line outside the tenth-century ramparts may one
day be exposed by deep building excavations. St.Juliana's
church probably conceals beneath its pavements the
foundations of a pre-Conquest structure; both here and
at St.Mary's archaeological methods could make a con-

tribution to the early history of Shrewsbury.

1, James Tait, Mediaeval English Borough, T76.
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CHAPTER I1I.

TOPOGRAPHY FROM THE CONQUEST TO THE FOURTEENTH CENTURY.

The first and heaviest impact of the Norman Conquest
upon Shrewsbury as upon so many other places was the building
between 1067 and 1069 of a castle, which differed from any
previous miiitary works the town had in being designed as
much to subject the inhabitants to their new lord as to
protect them from external enemies. For both purposes
Roger de Montgomery's castle was admirably sited. Although
the chosen position is not quite the highest ground in the
town it was of greater natural strength and possessed greater
tactical advantages than anywhere else within the loop of
the Severn. The land at the neck of the peninsula, only
three hundred yards wide between the two great sweeps of the
river, must in 1067 have been effectively narrowed by low-
lying mershes on the west and completely commanded by the
rocky promontory on the east whereon the castle was built.
Even today the walk known as The Dana gives a wide view
not only over the houses in Castle Gates to the country-
side beyond, but over the railway station too, which by its
presence and great size masks to the modern eye the
formidable strength of the castle to the north. It comes
ags a surprise to see in an early 19th-century painting

now hanging in the Music Hall 1 the steep sides of the little

1. A painting of the Dana before the railway was built;
hanging on the N.W. wall of Vaughan's Mansion.
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¢liff, above which runs the Dana Walk, falling away
northward to low-lying fields. A similar though less
striking impression is conveyed by Buckler's view of the

1 On the east of the promontory

castle from the north west.
is a precipitous slope to the river nearly seventy feet below.
The oval-shaped motte of the new castle put up by the
Norman invaders was sited close to this last and most easily
defensible slope, so that those manning it had, as it were,
their backs to the river (pl. 2) whence they could command
not only the landward approach over the peninsula but also
the waterway and an unbroken view of the ford at the eastern
end of the town. It stands about thirty-five feet high 2
and was no doubt surmounted by a timber structure of the

3 and illustrated in the

type recently excavated at Abinger
Bayeux Tapestry. The inner bailey extended over the area
now encircled by the Dana steps and walk, its southern
boundary probably corresponding with the present wall.

The area of the llth-century outer bailey is more uncertain.
It certainly extended at least as far as the modern Council

House Court and from the riverside slope almost to Castle

Street, its entrance perhaps coinciding with the modern

l. o & B., I, opg. [ ] 38.
2‘ V.C.H., I, 39 —90 .
3. B.Hope-Taylor, "The Excavation of a Motte at Abinger in

Surrey; Arch. J., CVII (1950), 15-33.
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approach. Here, on the site of the present Presbyterian
church of St.Nicholas, stood a l2th-century chapel with
the same dedication; Owen and Blakeway say it stood

within the bailey *

but quote no authority, inferring
merely from its position that it was built by Roger de
Montgomery "for the accommodation of such of his retainers
as resided in the outer court of the fortress". Their
statement has been accepted by later writers.- Recently

Mr. J.L.Hobbs published a borough rental of 1521 containing
the words "viam ducentem a le Bayly usque cimiterium Beate
virginis in fine orientale dicte ecclesie", phrases he takes
to refer to the present Windsor Place. 2 There is no obvious
way leading from the present bailey to St.Mary's, but if
there had been an entrance to a much larger outer bailey
further south on Castle Street, Windsor Place would fit

the description well enough. On the other hand there is

no reason to reject the evidence of Burleigh's and Speed's
maps, which show the l3th-century town wall running between
the present Windsor Place and the Council House Court in
such a way as to exclude a triangle of land bounded by

St. Mary's Water Lane, Castle Street and the Council House.
If Owen and Blakeway were correct, the building of this

wall would have necessitated an unusual and unrecorded

1. O & B., II, 473.
o, TSAS, LVIII (1950), 216, 24l n, 7.
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procedure - the abandonment of part of the bailey and

its replacement in a defensive scheme by the town wall.
Moreover one of two assumptions is required to reconcile
topographical features with a bailey extending to Windsor
Place. Firstly the bailey could have been of very
irregular plan, its bounds following the line of the later
town wall, Alternatively it could have been of regular
plan and included all the ground to the Severn, thereby
losing its commanding position towards the town. Neither
agssumption sounds very likely. Furthermore the chapel of
St.Nicholas is nowhere specifically described as being
inside the bailey, but if it were, it may well have been

at the outer gate. Whichever view is taken of the size of
the original outer bailey it is difficult to reconcile all
the evidence, but on balance it seems likely that its southern
boundary turned away from Castle Street on very much the line
it does today and so round to join that stretch of wall
which curves away from the river to meet it. The west
side of the outer bailey impinged on Castle Street for

most of its length, but the inner bailey probably stood
back some distance, commanding by its superior position

1

the steep northern approach into the town. Though there

must hdve been a gate across the street still called Castle

1. Castle Gates was levelled out in the 19th century.
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Gates prior to the building of the l3th-century wall,
neither architectural trace nor historical record of it has
been preserved.

The castle was early put to a severe test. In 1069
"the Welsh, with the men of Cheshire, laid siege to the
King's castle at Shrewsbury, aided by the townsmen under

Edric the Wila". 1

It survived the ordeal successfully
until relief was near, when the insurgents burnt the town
and retired.

After the events of 1069, when the initial
disturbances caused by the Conquest had died down,
Shrewsbury's military importance declined somewhat.

After 1075, when Roger de Montgomery was created Earl of
Shrewsbury, it declined still further as the frontiers of

the Welsh kingdom of Powys were pushed back far to the

west of the town. Earl Roger's foundation of his eponymous
castle and borough, accompanied by like activity on the

part of the other marcher earls, made Shrewsbury secure in
all but two situations, when Anglo-Norman power was divided

or the Welsh united. The confident and energetic Normans
seem not to have felt it necessary to rebuild a base fortress,

such as Shrewsbury had become in the late eleventh and early

twelfth centuries, however great its strategic importance.

l. Ordericus Vitalis, The Ecclesiastical History of England
and Normendy, trans. Thos. Forrester, 11, 26.
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There is certainly little among ‘the surviving
buildings of the castle to show that it was rebuilt in
stone during the early Norman period, but various entries
in the Pipe Rolls show that Henry II ordered work to be
done here as a minor part of his extensive refortification
of the Welsh border. © In the first year, 1165, £17.13s.5d.
was spent on work at the castle of Salop ("in operatione
castelle de Salop"), while Roger of Powis had 2 marks for
fortifying the tower of Salop ("ad muniend' tur' de Salop'").2
This, the largest amount spent in any year before 1205, whén
the published Pipe Rolls cease, was a defence preparation
against Owain Gwynedd, who had just begun a successful
campaign against Henry. The following year ‘the sum of
£9.1l4s. 1ld. was expended on building and repairs at
Shrewsbury castle ("in operatione et emendatione castelli
de Salopesberia"); in 1168 a further sum of £9.12g.5d. ("in
operatione castelli"); and in 1169 £8. 0Os. 7d. was paid
for work on the king's houses at Shrewsbury and repair of
the castle ("in operatione Domorum regis de Salopesberia et
emendatione castelli“).3 What these "king's houses" were

like is unknown - presumably they were domestic buildings

l. A.Hamilton Thompson, Military Architecture in England

duri the Middle Ages .
2, FPipe goII IT Henry 1, é9; this and other P.R's quoted
below are published by the Pipe Roll Society unless

otherwise stated. \
3. P.R. 14 Henry II 93; 15 Henry II 108.
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attached to the castle for use by the king on his
journeys in the merches, such as those of 1165, 1175 and
1176. 1 The sum of five pounds spent in 1171 on work on
the motte ("in operatione .... in mota") 2 shows the castle
was still at that date an earth and timber structure. The
other entries for this reign relating to Shrewsbury castle
are mostly confined to repairs, though the distinction
between building, alteration, and repair ("in operatione",
"in emendatione", and "in reparatione") may not always have
been very clear. 3

These bare records of payment give little idea of
what work was really done; the reference to the motte
suggests that the Norman structure put up a century before
had not been seriously modified. The Hundred Roll of 1275
appears to bear this out with a statement that "a great
wooden tower, which had been erected in the castle, fell to
the ground when Sir Vivian de St.Pier was sheriff". 4 Years
before, in 1229, the sheriff had expended £7.lls.lld. "in
felling timber and carrying it to Shrewsbury and making a

1. R.W. Eyton, Court and Itinerary of Henry II, (1878).

2, P.R. 19 Henry II.

3. P.R. 20 Henry II, 108; P.R. 26 Henry II, 2 (Yale, 1918);
P.R. 27, 29, 31, 32, 33, Henry II,

4. Hugh Owen says that near the postern (marked on the 0.S.
25-inch map) "are the massive foundations of an ancient
tower" (Ancient and Present State, 71), which was
therefore quite near the artificial motte. It is just
possible that this tower was built at some unknown date
to replace a motte, and like certain l2th-century keeps,
had to be placed a little distance from the made-up ground
in order to be sure of a good foundation (A.Hamilton
Thompson, op.cit., 128).




56.

palisade around the tower of Shrewsbury." 1

The words are not very precise, but interpreted in the

light of the Abinger excavations their meaning surely
becomes clear. Figure 4 shows the plan of just the kind

of structures implied by these two statements, a timber tower
placed centrally on the motte and surrounded by a massive
palisade with an internal platform which formed a defensible
fighting-walk. Now Abinger was never after its early

days held by a great feudal magnate, and was never a major
castle, so it was not to be expected that it should keep
Padce with the development of military architecture. It is
more surprising to find such a simple type of fortification,
successively outmoded by the massive early Norman stone
keep, the shell keep and the fortified curtain, surviving
in a royal castle well into the thirteenth century, until

it and its supersessors alike were rendered obsolete by the
Edwardian concentric castle. The later history of Shrewsbury
castle is very obscure and indeed has never been properly
investigated. Edward I is usually credited with building
the existing hall and towers, but no documentary evidence
has been quoted for the statement. Clearly the rebuilding
involved the complete abandonment of the eleventh-century
scheme of defence, the persistence of which is the only
aspect of the castle's history which properly concerns this

chapter.

1. Cal.Liberate Rolls. (1226-40), 151. The previous
year the ‘houses' of the castle had been repaired:
ibid., 64. .
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One last payment deserves mention, the sum of
£18.12s.4d. expended in 1166 "in custamento murorum de
Salopesberia”. This is a puzzling item. It might point
to Norman town walls for which there is otherwise no
documentary evidence - a.lacuna which will be discussed
below (Ch.III) - but as there is no satisfactory
architectural evidence either, the entry probably refers
to the walls of the inner and outer baileys. Parts of
these yet remain, notably a round-headed doorway of two
orders moulded continuously in jambs and head, which
connects the two baileys and can reasonably be ascribed
to the period 1150-70 (pl. 3).

It is in any case most unlikely that the walls
referred to are the Saxon fortificatién described in the
previous chapter, because by the middle of the twelfth
century these must have fallen completely into disuse.
Even if no attempt had been made to slight them, building
and street development must by then have begun on a scale

sufficient to render them useless.

Within a few years of his becoming Earl of Shrewsbury,
Roger de Montgomery introduced that other characteristiec
manifestation of Norman culture, a Benedictine monastery.
In Shrewsbury indeed the contrast between Norman and Saxon

organisation, the new culture and the old, is striking;
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a castle supersedes the burh, a house of regulars assumes
pre-eminence over the four colleges of secular priests.
The abbey was founded in or after 1083 1 and before 1086 2
when building had begun; the small parish which stood
outside the eaBt gate was swallowed up by the monastery.
Work on the new church was sufficiently advanced by 1094 to
allow the founder Earl to be buried there, and by the early
years of the twelfth century it was completed. The form of
the eastern arm being unknown, the only feature of the plan
that need b§ mentioned is the division of the nave into
two parts, the three eastern bays occupied by the monastic
choir, the three western devoted to parochial uses, Red
sandstone is the material used throughout. 3 The claustral
buildings were in the normal position on the south side of
the church, extending almost to the large "Abbey Pool"
which was formed by a diversion of part of the Meole Brook,
and the precinct occupied the whole area of the present
cemetery. 4
A few years after the abbey church was finished the
cultural effects of the Conquest were further manifested
in the architectural transformation of the four Saxon

churches in the town. Unfortunately three of the four

1. Knowles, Rej_%lous Houses in Mediaseval England, 66
uoting Dugdale, Monasticon, limits the date to 10é3-90.

2. % R. Darlington, Vita Wulfstani, 27n.

3. Cranage, Churches‘BT’Shropshlre, 866-892.

4. 0 & B, II, plan opp. 83.
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churches thus rebuilt, which retained much of their
Romanesque character throughout the middle ages, were
destroyed by neglect or stupidity in the 18th century and
are known only from drawings and descriptions. Dr.Cranage
summarised what can be learnt from these sources, and his
conclusions are here accepted without re-examination of the
evidence.

St. Mary's was perhaps the first to be rebuilt,
"about the midéle of the 12th century, in the reign of

1 as an aisleless

Stephen rather than that of Henry II",
eruciform church with a crossing tower. The plan shows
certain peculiarities. The setting-out of the first Norman
work is irregular to a degree unusual even in mediaeval
buildings, where the contemporaneous parts of a new church
are commonly found to be reasonably rectilinear and aligned;
Dr.Cranage himself comments on the way the north transept
leans to the west. The transepts are disproportionately
long, some three times ‘the width of the nave. Although the
original form of the east end has never been discovered by
excavation, the length of the transepts as well as existing
architectural evidence shows that there were chapels
flanking the chancel. That at the east end of the north
transept projects boldly in the way usual for such chapels

in the larger churches of the period; 2 the corresponding

1. COCranage, op.cit., 924; and 923 - 963 passim.
2, cf. A.W. Claphem, English Romanesque Architecture after
the Conguest, for many such examples.




60.

chapel in the south transept is hardly more than a recess
in the thickness of the wall, which breaks forward very
slightly to accommodate it. The space left between the
existing chapels and chancel is sufficient for an inter-
mediate chapel to have existed in each transept though
Dr .Cranage did not think any such were built. 1 The fact
that St.Mary's was an important collegiate foundation would
in any case éufficiently account for an unusually ample
provision in a church of this size for simultaneous
celebration of masses. Such a need would be the more
strongly felt at a time when, through the development
of the parish system, such colleges were losing their pre-
Conquest function of serving the spiritual needs of a wide
area, and tending to perform offices similar to those of
the smaller houses of regular canons. The existence of
at least three and perhaps five structural features
directly intended for altars suggests that the prebendaries
were expected to spend considerable time in Shrewsbury
rather than in performing their original function of
ministering to the surrounding countryside.

About the same time that St.Mary's was rebuilt,
or slightly before, the church of St.Alkmund was transformed

1. Cranage, op.cit., 1018.

2. The change in emphasis is the more striking when it is
remembered that priests in the twelfth century did not
usually celebrate a daily mass: J.R.H. Moorman, Church
Life in England in the Thirteenth Century, 317.
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both in fabric and congtitution. "Shortly before the
middle of the 12th century, 1 Lilleshall Abbey was founded
out of the revenues of St.Alkmund's, each prebendal stall
as it became vacant being suppressed and the property
being handed over to ‘the important new house of Regular
Canons. St.Alkmund's thereupon became a poorly endowed
vicarage and has remained so ever since". 2 1% is likely,
therefore, that the Romanesque church recorded in drawings
was built in the first half of the twelfth century, or at
least before its revenues were drastically curtailed. It
seems to have been an aisled cruciform structure which
may well have had originally a crossing tower, though no
record of such a feature survives. 3 Such a central tower
was often replaced later by a west tower, a feature which
St.Alkmund's (like St.Mary's) still possesses.

If this were indeed the case three of the four
Norman churches of Shrewsbury had a strong family likeness,
for a third, St.Chad's, though apparently rather later, of
late twelfth-century'date, was also an aisled cruciform
church with crossing tower. There was a crypt under the

north transept extending eastwards into a small rectangular

1. Between 1144 and 1148; Knowles, Religious Houses, 86.

2, Cranage, op.cit., 893; and 893 - 8§%.

3. Clapham, op.cit. 59; "The vast majority of eleventh and
early twelfth-century Norman churches above the rank of
parish church were provided with a central tower".
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chamber which doubtless underlay a transeptal chapel. 1

Although it is surprising that so important a church should
not have been rebuilt before the late twelfth century, some
confirmation of this late rebuilding is perhaps to be found
in the chantry certificates. There the foundation of the
church is ascribed to "Roger, bishop of Chester", who can be
identified with Roger Clinton, bishop of Coventfy and
Lichfield (1129-48).2 Founder he was not, but he probably
reconstituted the college to accord with its change of
function, after which a reconstruction of the church would
be necessary.

The only evidence that St.Juliana's was rebuilt
in the twelfth century is provided by the base of a respond
now in the churchyard, of which the original position is not
known; it can be ascribed to the middle of the century.
The responds of the nave arcades are said to have been of
late twelfth-century type. 3

Summing up the effects of the Conquest on the three
most important parish churches of the town, all three under-
went a fundamentally similar constitutional reform to adapt
them to a developing ecclesiastical organisation, and in

consequence all were rebuilt on similar lines. For St.

1. Cranage, op.cit., 899-912.
2. A.Hamilton Thompson, "The English Clergy... in the later
Middle Ages," 86 n. 2, quoting TSAS, 3s X (1910), 306.

3. Cranage, op.cit., 919, 921.
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Alkmund's and St.Mary's the architectural evidence implies
such a change; for St.Chad's there is a scrap of
documentary evidence.

The extensive church-building activity that went on
in Shrewsbury throughout the Norman period did not slacken
until well on in the thirteenth century. St.Mary's
underwent continuous modification for half a centufy after
the original design was completed. First a western tower
was added in the third quarter of the twelfth century, then
in the few years following 1190 the chancel was lengthened
by a bay, aisles and a south porch were added to the nave,
and a chapel was added or rebuilt in echelon on the north
transept; possibly this was matched in the south transept
too, but later rebuilding has swept away the evidence.
Work was going on at St,Chad's ¢.1226 - 35, for in 1226

1

four oaks from Lythwood were granted to the church, and

2 Dr.Cranage considers the

ten more followed in 1232.
Early English cleér—storey shown in drawings may be
associated with these references.

St.Juliana's and St.Alkmund's were likewise altered
or extended in the thirteenth century, so that lancet
windows in the chancels are a prominent feature of eighteenth

3

century drawings and descriptions. "It is plain, indeed,

1. Ibid., 909.
2. C(Close Rolls (1231-4), 73.
3. cf. descriptions in O & B. and Cranage.
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that a general improvement, amounting in some cases

nearly to a renovation, took place about the same time

in all the ancient churches of Shrewsbury, during the

reign of Henry III".1  The changes were part of that
wider movement general throughtout England in the early
thirteenth century which led to the modification, extension,
or rebuilding of the east end of nearly every church in

the land, ranging from the modest enlargement of a square
chancel in a parish church to the building of sumptuous
eastern chapels at Durham and Lincoln.

So far a chronological treatment has been adopted
in order to show the magnitude of the changes which
resulted from the Norman Conquest, and how the wave of
building and rebuilding which accompanied the imposition
of a new rule and a new culture was not finally exhausted
until the 13th century. It now remains to complete the
tale of ecclesiastical development by describing several
medieval chapels which are known mainly from incidental
references, of obscure origin and development.

The most interesting of them is the chapel of St.
Martin, stated by Owen and Blakeway to have stoed "in the

High Street, on the south side, somewhere near the turning

l. 0 & B., II, 426.



65.

into the Corn-market". They based their opinion on a

deed of 1325 relating to "a tenement opposite the chapel

of St. Martin .... between the tenements of Walter Geffrey
and Nicholas Ivo (or Ive) on one part, and the lane called
Gropecount Lane on the other".l The architectural evidence
put forward is conflicting, ﬁut on balance. it seems fairly
certain that foundation walls discovered on the south-east
side of The Square are the remains of the chapel. They
were last seen about 1927 during the rebuilding of Della
Porta's premises: "between High Street and Princess Street,
flanked on one side by the Shire Hall and the other by the
Unitarian Chapel, the front (or possibly the back) and part
of the end wall of a red sandstone building were found

deep down in the excavations .... under three very old
cottages on the west side of Phillip's Passage. Part of
this ancient structure had evidently projected on to the
site of the Guildhall. The end wall was about 65 feet
from the High Street frontage, and the long wall ran for

a distance of 30 to 35 feet in a south-westerly direction
towards Princess Street". The excavations were carried

to a depth of 165 feet below High Street, where the

ground was a treacherous running sand, without reaching
footings. “"There were two small niches, several feet

apart, in the long wall, with pointed arched heads".>

1. O & B., 1I, 473; the deed is now S.P.L. 3758.
2. A.W. Ward, The Shrewsbury of 1772 (pamphlet), 12.
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Other evidence had been obtained in 1891 during earlier
excavations on Della Porta's premises, No.5 Princess Street,
when "an ancient wall of stone" was found, "well constructed
and in good preservation, running parallel ﬁith the street,
in a line with the back wall of the house.... having a
length of 14 or 15 feet and a thickness of 7 £t.€ ins.

On the side next the street was an arched recess in the
thickness of the wall, the arch being a flat ellipse,
slightly pointed. To the west of this wall, at right
angles to it, was some masonry indicating the spring of

an arch of considerable span, which might have been a

1 The external niches and

bridge, the earth being wet".
the pointed recess suggest a building of some pretensions,
while the wall 7 ft. 6 ins. thick very likely indicates a
tower. The description of the recess may denote a four-
centred head of perpendicular type. The "bridge" mentioned
in the second passage was apparently at riéht angies to
Princess Street; its real purpose remains unknown, but
that the writer should have suggested it was a bridge is
striking proof of the wet and boggy nature of the subsoil
hereabouts.

Other architectural evidence purports to show that
St. Martin's chapel stood on the opposite (north-east) side
of High Street, near Grope lLane. "About May 1884, when
alterations were being made to the éhop at the bottom of

Grope Lane, portions of the mullions and tracery of a very

1. W.P(hillips), S.N. and Q., n.s. I (1892), 98.



670

large window were found; with human bones and other remains.
Some twelve months ago other moulded and cusped stones were
brought to light in laying the foundations of the new Fire
Office", L the building which is now the Alliance Insurance
offices. The writer quoted in support of his theory
Hulbert's reference to "remains of an ancient building of
red stone, now a stable belonging to the Cross Keys Inn"

at the corner of Grope Lane and High Street. The red

stone building need not however have been a church; the
existence of several mediaeval secular stone buildings can
be proved, and this might be another for which no written
evidence survives. Some of the known examples could have
shown elaborate window tracery, though the evidence of
mullions and tracery in itself signifies little, as such
fragments can be easily transported from their original
site. The walls adjacent to the Square, on the other hand,
suggest more definitely a church, therefore probably the
chapel of St.Martin. The date of its foundation and building
are quite unknown, but one general consideration may perhaps
limit speculation. The market was moved into the present
Square in 1261, 3 which implies there was sufficient open
ground for a new market-place to be laid out. Moreover

the laying-out of the north-west end of Princess Street was

1. R.E. D(avies), S.N. and Q, n.s. I (1892), 13; ascribed
to 13th century (ibid., 5); to early 13th century (ib%?.,
2, Hulbert., . .
3. Above, p.39; cf. the evidence of pile-structures in
High Street.
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probably contemporary with the new market, so that the
chapel, set between them, is unlikely to have been built
much before the middle of the thirteenth century. It is
difficult to fit into this theory the discovery of human
bones north of High Street, which suggest there was a
cemetery attached to the chapel. On the other hand there
is nothing to show the date of these interments, or even
that they were in a cemetery and Christian. ‘If St.Martin's
stood on the south-west side of High Street it is equally
unlikely either that it was divided by an important street
from its cemetery or that High Street was driven across the
0ld cemetery. Despite this apparently insoluble difficulty
the evidence for a chapel adjacent to the Square seems on
balance to be better than that for a site anywhere else. 1

St. Martin's has been discussed at length because it
is almost the only chapel for which there is any evidence
of an architectural character, and because it has an important
bearing on the topography of a central part of the medieval
town,

Barker Street preserves in its ancient name of
Romoldesham the tradition of the existence there at some
uncertain period in the middle ages of a chapel dedicated

to St. Rumold or Rumbold. No direct mention of it is

1. It has been objected that if St. Martin's were only
a chapel it would have had no burial rights at all;
but cf. the references to the cemeteries of St.Blaise
and St. Werburga (p.70).
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known; a reference in the Bailiff's accounts of 1260-1261

1

to the gate of St.Rumold points to an origin in or before

the thirteenth century. I have not been able to identify

the particular saint honoured by this dedication.
Somewhere in the same street stood the chapel of

St. Mary Magdalene which is referred to in a rental of

2

1580. William Phillips said it stood at "the angle

formed by the junction of Barker Street and Bridge Street,

facing us as we proceed down Barker Street from Bellstone,

3

on the right-hand side",
4

guoting Owen in support of his
view, and said that Owen and Blakeway were wrong in
assigning it to somewhere on the lleole road. 2 Phillips
undoubtedly identified correctly the precise location of a
chapel with this dedication in Barker Street, but there must
have been a second in the area now called Belle Vue..

In his will dated 1355 Thomas Gamel of Shrewsbury
mentions "a certain tenement situate in the street called
Muryvans, between a tenement of Sir Thomas Vaughan, knight,
on one side and a tenement of Roger de Tromwyne on the

- other, extending from the king's highway .... and up to a

plot of land belonging to the chapel of St.Blase". 6 The

1. "“portam sci Rumoldi".

2, TSAS, LVIII (1950),-222.

3. DSAS, 3s. V (1905), v - vii.

4, Owen, Ancient and Present State, 314.

5. 0 & B, II, 473; II, 165 n.4., quoting CPR (1354-58), 404.
6. TSAS, 3s.. V (1905}, 394-5.
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phrase might refer to a detached property; that the chapel
did in fact stand close by is clear from a deed of 148l
describing a garden in the street of Muryvance as extending
"in length thirteen woollen yards from the cemetery of the
0old chapel of St.Blaise up to the royal Way seces's 1
On the 0.S. 25 - inch map the probable site of the chapel
is south-east of the junction of Swan Hill and College
Hill. No architectural remains of it have ever been found.
We know of the existence of a chapel dedicated to
St. Werburga only from a grant of 1308 in the cartulary of
Haughmond Abbey, 2 which speaks of the cemetery of St.
Werburga. The wording of the grant is confused, so all
that can be said i<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>